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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR
OKLAHOMA-WESTERN DISTRICT

Commodity Futures Trading Commission,
Plaintiff,

vs.

Civil Action No:
Mark S. Trimble, and
Phidippides Capital Management LLC,

Defendants, and

Complaint For Injunctive And
Other Equitable Relief And
Civil Monetary Penalties Under
The Commodity Exchange Act

Phidippides Capital LP,

Relief Defendant.

1. Summary

I. From at least 2005 to the present (the "relevant period"), Mark S. Trimble

("Trimble") and Phidippides Capital Management LLC ("PCM") (collectively, the

"Defendants") have solicited and/or accepted more than $34 milion from 60 investors to

trade commodity futures in a commodity pool entitled Phidippides Capital LP ("PC LP"

or "the pool"). Since at least October 2007, the Defendants issued false statements to

pool paricipants that did not accurately disclose the profits and significant losses that the

pool was incurrng trading commodity futures contracts and paid themselves more than

$ I millon in fees bases based upon inflated profits. In addition, the Defendants failed to

disclose that the pool statements were false and accepted funds from prospective and

actual pool participants who relied upon the false statements. Finally, the Defendants

redeemed pool participant interests in the pool based upon the falsely reported profits and

in so doing operated the pool as a Ponzi scheme.
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2. Specifically, the Defendants have engaged, are engaging, or are about to

engage in acts or practices that violate the anti-fraud sections of the Commodity

Exchange Act ("Act"), 7 U.S.C. §§ I el seq. (2006), as amended by the Food,

Conservation, and Energy Act of2008, Pub. L. No. 110-246, Title XII (the CFTC

Reauthorization Act of 2008 C'CRA")), §§ 1310 I - 13204, 122 Stat. 165 I (effective June

18, 2008). Defendants have violated Sections 4b(a)(2)(i-iii) and 40( I) of the Act, 7

U.S.C. §§ 6b(a)(2)(i-ii) and 60(1) (2006), and Sections 4b(a)(I)(A-C) of the Act as

amended by the CRA, to be codified at 7 U.S.C. §§ 6b(a)(l)(A-C), by issuing false

statements to pool paricipants in connection with commodity futures transactions, failng

to disclose material facts and misappropriating pool participant funds, and have violated

Commission Regulation ("Regulation") 4.20(c), 17 C.F.R § 4.20(c) (2008), by

commingling pool participant funds with the funds of others.

3. Unless restrained and enjoined by this Court, Defendants are likely to

continue to engage in the acts and practices alleged in this Complaint and in similar acts

and practices, as more fully described below.

4. Accordingly, pursuant to Section 6c of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § I 3a- I (2006),

the Commodity Futures Trading Commission ("Commission" or "CFTC") brings this

action to enjoin such acts and practices, prevent the dissipation of assets, and compel

compliance with the provisions ofthe Act and the Regulations thereunder. In addition,

the Commission seeks civil penalties, an accounting, restitution, rescission, disgorgement

and such other equitable relief as the Court may deem necessary or appropriate under the

circumstances.
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II. Jurisdiction and Venue

5. This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to Section 6c of the

Act, 7 U.S.C. § 13a-1 (2006), which authorizes the Commission to seek injunctive relief

against any person whenever it shall appear to the Commission that such person has

engaged, is engaging, or is about to engage in any act or practice constituting a violation

of any provision of the Act or any rule, regulation or order thereunder.

6. Venue properly lies with this Court pursuant to Section 6c of the Act,

7 U.S.C. § 13a-l(e) (2006), in that the Defendants are found in, inhabit, and trasact

business in this District, and the acts and practices in violation of the Act have occurred,

are occurrng, or arc about to occur within this District.

111. The Parties and Other Relevant Entities

7. Plaintiff Commodity Futures Trading Commission is an independent

federal regulatory agency that is charged with responsibilty for administering and

enforcing the provisions of the Act, 7 U.S.C. §§ i et seq. (2006), and the regulations

promulgated thereunder, i 7 C.F.R. §§ i et seq. (2008).

8. Mark S. Trimble resides in Edmond, Oklahoma. He is the managing

member ofPCM. Trimble controlled PCM and made all of the trading decisions in the

PCM and PC LP accounts. He is also a member of the Chicago Mercantile Exchange

("CME"), a designated contract market for the trading of commodity futures contracts.

9. Phidippides Capital Management LLC is an Oklahoma limited liabilty

company with offces at 1225 N. Broadway, Oklahoma City, Oklahoma. PMC is not

registered with the Commission in any capacity. It holds itself out as an exempt

commodity pool operator ("CPO") claiming that it is exempt from registration under
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Regulation 4. 13 (a)(4), 17 C.F.R. § 4.I3(a)(4) (2008). This exemption requires, in par,

that the CPO reasonably believes at the time ofinvestment that the pool paricipants are

"qualified eligible persons" as defined in 17 C.F.R. § 4.7 (2008), or "accredited persons"

as defined in i 7 C.F.R. § 230.501 (a)(I)-(3), (a)(7) and (a)(8) (2008).

10. Phidippides Capital LP is a Delaware limited partnership with offices

located at 1225 N. Broadway, Oklahoma City, Oklahoma. PCM is PC LP's general

partner. PC LP had an account in which it traded commodity futures contracts at MF

Global, Inc. ("MF Global"), a registered futures commission merchant.

iv. Statutory and Regulatory Background

i i. A "commodity pool" is defined in Regulation 4. I O( d)( I), i 7 C.F.R.

§ 4. I O( d)( 1) (2008), as any investment trust, syndicate or similar form of enterprise

engaged in the business of investing its pooled funds in trading commodity futures and/or

commodity options.

12. A "commodity pool operator" is defined in Section la(5) of the Act,

7 U.S.C. § 1 (a)(5) (2006), as any person engaged in a business that is of the nature of an

investment trust, syndicate, or similar form of enterprise, and who, in connection

therewith, solicits, accepts or receives from others, funds, securities, or propert, either

directly or through capital contributions, the sale of stock or other forms of securities or

otherwise, for the purpose of trading in any commodity for future delivery on or subject

to the rules of any contract market.

i 3. A "participant" is defined in Regulation 4. i O(c), i 7 C.F.R. § 4. i O(c)

(2008), as any person who has any direct financial interest in a commodity pool.

4



Case 5:09-cv-00154-D Document 1 Filed 02/09/2009 Page 5 of 17

14. Regulation 4.20(c), 17 C.F.R. § 4.20(c) (2008), prohibits CPOs from

commingling the propert of any pool that it operates or that it intends to operate with the

property of any other person.

V. Facts

Trimble and PCM Cheated and Defrauded Pool Paricipants

i 5. Since at least 2005, Trimble and PCM have operated a commodity pool

for which pool participants' funds were solicited and accepted for the purpose of trading

commodity futures contracts.

16. Trimble maintained two personal accounts at MF Global that he opened in

December 2004 and June 2006, respectively. PCM opened its commodity futures trading

account at MF Global in October 2007. The PC LP account at MF Global was opened in

August 2008.

17. Upon information and belief, any paricipant funds received by the

Defendants prior to October 2007 were deposited in the accounts in Trimble's name, and

any pool paricipant funds received from October 2007 to August 2008 were deposited in

accounts in either Trimble's name or the name of pool operator, PCM. After August

2008, pool participant funds were deposited in the PCM and PC LP accounts.

18. As of Januar 15,2009, the PC LP account had a balance of

approximately $7.2 millon. (Exhibit I) The account lost approximately $ i . I milion in

trading during 2008. (Exhibit 2)

19. As of December 31,2008, the PCM account had a balance of$5.8 milion

and the year-to-date loss for the account was $4.5 millon. (Exhibit 3)
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20. On January 16,2009, the U.S. Attorney's Offce for the Western District

of Oklahoma sent MF Global a copy of an account statement for the PCM account that it

had received from Trimble. The account statement appeared on MF Global letterhead

and purported to reflect that the PCM account at MF Global had an account balance of

almost $29. i milion and had realized year-to-date profits of approximately $9. I millon

as of Deccmber 31,2008. (Exhibit 4)

2 I. On or about January 19, 2009, Trimble sent an email to his account

executive at MF Global and others, addressed to "Family, Friends and Clients," in which

Trimble stated that he had not been "honest" about the pool's trading results in 2008. In

the email, Trimble admitted that there was a difference between the balances he reported

to his clients and the FBI and "what MF Global shows our capital balances to be. The

reason our balances are off is because I could not look myself in the mirror and face all of

you and notify you that in the last quarer of2008 we lost all the profits for the year and

then some." (Exhibit 5)

22. During the week of January 26, 2009, CFTC auditors went to the offces

of PCM to audit the books and records. During the course of the audit, Trimble admitted

to the CFTC auditors that customer funds had been deposited in the PCM account and

that beginning around October 2007, he had sent false MF Global statements to the

bookkeeping service that prepared the pool paricipant account statements and computed

the net asset value of the pool participant investments.

23. According to Trimble, prior to October 2007, he used an internal

bookkeeping system to generate customer statements. When the system crashed, he

employed the bookkeeping service to prepare web-based statements for his customers.
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Because he could not get the account balances he was reporting to the pool participants to

match the MF Global statements, he modified the MF Global statements he gave the

bookkeeping service to cause the statements to balance. All PC LP customer statements

issued after October 2007 were false.

24. Trimble and PCM knew that prospective and actual pool participants

relied on those false statements and invested funds with the Defendants based upon the

inflated profits reported therein. Nevertheless, the Defendants failed to disclose to

prospective and actual pool participants that the statements were false. The Defendants

accepted at least $23 milion in customer funds after they began issuing false statements.

25. After October 2007, the Defendants redeemed pool paricipant interests in

the pool based upon the falsely reported profits and in so doing used the funds of other

pool participants to pay inflated profits to those participants who sought to withdraw their

investments.

26. Finally, during the course of the audit, Trimble admitted to the CFTC

auditors that he accepted $2.2 milion of pool participant funds for which he cannot

account.

27. On February 4, 2009, Trimble wrote an email to the CFTC auditors

admitting that he collected $1,765,989 in fees based on the false statements when he

claims that he was entitled to $744,389. (Exhibit 6)
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VI. Violations of the Commodity Exchange Act
and Commission Regulations

Count I

Violations of Section 4b of the Act as amended by the CRA:
Defendants Cheated and Defrauded Pool Participants

28. The allegations set forth in paragraphs I through 27 are re-alleged and

incorporated herein.

29. Trimble and PCM cheated or defrauded or attempted to cheat or defraud

pool paricipants by wilfully making or causing to be made false reports and false

statements to pool paricipants who invested money with PCM to trade commodity

futures contracts, by failng to disclose that the perfonnance results were false when they

accepted pool participant funds, and by misappropriating pool paricipant funds.

30. Trimble and PCM engaged in this conduct before June 18, 2008 in or in

connection with orders to make, or the making of, contracts of sale of commodities, for

future delivery, made, or to be made, for or on behalf of such other persons where such

contracts for future delivery were or may have been used for (a) hedging any transaction

in interstate commerce in such commodity, or the products or byproducts thereof, or (b)

detennining thc price basis of any transaction in interstate commerce in such commodity,

or (c) delivering any such commodity sold, shipped or received in interstate commerce

for the fulfillment thereof.

3 I. Trimble and PCM engaged in this conduct on or after June 18, 2008 in or

in connection with orders to make, or the making of, contracts of sale of a commodity in

interstate commcrce or for future delivery made, or to be made, on or subject to the rules

of a designated contract market.
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32. Trimble and PCM therefore violated Sections 4b(a)(2)(i-iii) of the Act, 7

U.S.C. §§ 6b(a)(2)(i-iii) (2006), with respect to acts occurring before June J8, 2008, and

violated Sections 4b(a)(l)(A-C) of the Act as amended by the CRA, to be codified at

7 U.S.C. §§ 6b(a)(l)(A-C), with respect to acts occurring on or after June 18,2008.

33. The actions and omissions of Trimble described in this count were done

within the scope of his employment or offce with PCM. Therefore, PCM is liable for

Trimble's violations of Section 4b of the Act and Section 4b of the Act as amended by

the CRA as stated above, pursuant to Section 2(a)(1)(B) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 2a(l)(B)

(2006).

34. Trimble, directly or indirectly, controlled PCM and did not act in good

faith or knowingly induced, directly or indirectly, the acts constituting PCM's violations

alleged in this count. Trimble is thereby liable for PCM' s violations of Section 4b of the

Act and Section 4b of the Act as amended by the CRA, pursuant to Section 13(b) of the

Act, 7 U.S.C. § I3c(b)(2006).

35. Each false report or statement made, each failure to disclose material

information and each act of misappropriation during the relevant period, including but

not limited to those specifically alleged herein, is alleged as a separate and distinct

violation of Sections 4b(a)(2)(i-iii) of the Act, with respect to acts occurring before June

18, 2008, and/or violation of Sections 4b(a)( I )(A-C) of the Act as amended by the CRA,

with respect to acts occurring on or after June 18, 2008.
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Count II

Violations of Section 40(1) of the Act:
Commodity Pool Fraud

36. Paragraphs I through 27 are realleged and incorporated herein.

37. During the relevant period, PCM acted as a CPO in that it engaged in a

business that is of the nature of an investment trust, syndicate, or similar form of

enterprise and in connection therewith, has solicited, accepted or received funds,

securities or property from others for the purpose of trading commodities for future

delivery on or subject to the rules of a contract market or derivatives transaction

execution facility.

38. From at least 2005 through the present, PCM violated Section 40(1) of the

Act, 7 U.S.C. § 60(1)(2006), in that it directly or indirectly employed or is employing a

device, scheme, or artifice to defraud commodity pool participants, or has engaged or is

engaging in transactions, practices or a course of business which operated as a fraud or

deceit upon commodity pool participants by means of the acts and practices described in

paragraphs I through 26.

39. In connection with such conduct, PCM used or is using the mails and other

means or instrumentalities of interstate commerce, directly or indirectly, to engage in

business as a CPO.

40. Trimble, directly or indirectly, controlled PCM and did not act in good

faith or knowingly induced, directly or indirectly, the acts constituting PCM's violations

alleged in this count. Trimble is thereby liable for PCM's violations of Section 40(1) of

the Act pursuant to Section I 3(b) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § i 3c(b) (2006).
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4 i. The actions and omissions of Trimble descri bed in this count were done

within the scope of his employment or offce with PCM. Therefore, PCM is liable for

Trimble's violations of Section 40(1) of the Act pursuant to Section 2(a)(I)(B) of the Act,

7 U.S.C. § 2a(l)(B) (2006).

42. Each false report or statement made, each failure to disclose material

information and each act of misappropriation during the relevant period, including but

not limited to those specifically alleged herein, is alleged as a separate and distinct

violation of Section 40(1) ofthc Act, 7 V.S.c. § 60(1) (2006).

Count III

Violations of Regulation 4.20( c):
Commingling of Property by a CPO

43. Paragraphs I through 27 are re-alleged and incorporated herein.

44. PCM violated Regulation 4.20(c), 17 C.F.R. § 4.20(c) (2008), by

commingling the funds of the PC LP pool with the property of other persons by

depositing pool paricipant funds into the proprietar trading account of PCM and/or the

personal account of Trimble.

45. Trimble, directly or indirectly, controlled PCM and did not act in good

faith or knowingly induced, directly or indirectly, the acts constituting PCM's violations

alleged in this count. Trimble is thereby liable for PCM's violations of Regulation

4.20(c) pursuant to Section 13(b) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 13c(b) (2006).

46. Each act of commingling pool participant funds with the funds of the pool

operator, PCM, during the relevant period, including but not limited to those specifically

alleged herein, is alleged as a separate and distinct violation of Regulation 4.20(c), 17

C.F.R. § 4.20(c) (2008).

i I
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. Count iv

Disgorgement of Funds from PC LP

47. Paragraphs I through 46 are realleged and incorporated herein.

48. The Defendants have engaged in a fraudulent scheme that defrauded pool

paricipants.

49. PC LP has received funds that were obtained as a result of the Defendants'

fraud.

50. PC LP has no legitimate entitlement to, or interest in the funds received

from the Defendants' conduct.

5 I. The PC LP should be required to disgorge the funds that it received from

the Defendants' fraudulent conduct, or the value of those funds it may have subsequently

transferred to third parties.

52. By reason of the foregoing, PC LP holds funds in constructive trust for the

benefit of its paricipants, who were victimized by the Defendants' fraud.

vii. Relief Requested

WHEREFORE, the Commission respectfully requests that this Court, as authorized by

Section 6c of the Act, 7 U. S.c. § 13a- I (2006), and pursuant to its own equitable powers:

A. Find Defendants liable for violating Sections 4b(a)(2)(i-iii) and 4o( I) of

the Act, 7 U.S.C. §§ 6b(a)(2)(i-ii) and 60(1) (2006), Sections 4b(a)(l)(A-C) of the Act as

amended by the CRA, to be codified at 7 U.S.C. §§ 6b(a)(I)(A-C), and Regulation

4.20(c), i 7 C.F.R. § 4.20(c) (2008);

B. Enter orders of preliminary and permanent injunction enjoining

Defendants and all persons insofar as they are acting in the capacity of their agents,

12
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servants, employees, successors, assigns, and attorneys, and all persons insofar as they

are acting in active concert or participation with Defendants who receive actual notice of

such order by personal service or otherwise, from engaging, directly or indirectly, in any

activity related to trading in any commodity, as that term is defined in Section la(4) of

the Act, 7 U.S.C. § la(4) (2006) ("commodity interest"), including but not limited to, the

following:

I. Trading on or subject to the rules of any registered entity, as that

term is defined in Section la(29) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § la(29)
(2006);

2. Engaging in, controllng or directing the trading for any
commodity interest account for or on behalf of any other person or
entity, whether by power of attorney or otherwise;

3. Soliciting or accepting any funds from any person in connection

with the purchase or sale of any commodity interest;

4. Entering into any commodity interest transactions for his own

personal account, for any account in which he has a direct or
indirect interest and/or having any commodity interests traded on
his behalf;

5. Engaging in any business activities related to commodity interest
trading; and

6. Applying for registration or claiming exemption from registration
with the Commission in any capacity, and engaging in any activity
requiring such registration or exemption from registration with the
Commission, except as provided for in Regulation 4. 14(a)(9), 17
C.F.R. § 4. 14(a)(9) (2008), or acting as a principal, agent or any
other offcer or employee of any person registered, exempted from
registration or required to be registered with the Commission,
except as provided for in Regulation 4. I 4(a)(9), 17 C.F.R. §
4. I 4(a)(9) (2008);

C. Enter an order of permanent injunction prohibiting Defendants, and any

other person or entity associated with them, from engaging in conduct violating the

l 3
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Sections of the Act, Sections of the Act as amended by the CRA, and Regulations that

they are alleged to have violated;

D. Enter a restraining order pursuant to Section 6c(a) ofthc Act, 7 U.S.C.

§ I 3a- I (2006), restraining Defendants and all persons insofar as they are acting in the

capacity of Defendants' agents, servants, successors, employees, assigns, and attorneys,

and all persons insofar as they are acting in active concert or paricipation with them who

receive actual notice of such order by personal service or otherwise, from directly or

indirectly:

I. Destroying, mutilating, concealing, altering or disposing of any

books and records, documents, correspondence, brochures,

manuals, electronically stored data, tape records or other property
of Defendants or the PC LP, wherever located, including all such
records concerning Defendants' and the PC LP's business

operations;

2. Refusing to permit authorized representatives of the Commission

to inspect, when and as requested, any books and records,
documents, correspondence, brochures, manuals, electronically
stored data, tape records or other property of Defendants or the
Trust's, wherever located, including all such records concerning
Defendants' and the PC LP's business operations; and

3. Withdrawing, transferring, removing, dissipating, concealing or

disposing of, in any manner, any funds, assets, or other property,
wherever situated, including but not limited to, all funds, personal
property, money or securities held in safes, safety deposit boxes
and all funds on deposit in any financial institution, bank or
savings and loan account held by, under the control, or in the name
of the Defendants or the PC LP's;

E. Enter an order directing that Defendants and the PC LP provide the

Plaintiff immediate and continuing access to their books and records, make an accounting

to the Court of all of Defendants' and the PC LP's assets and liabilties, together with all

funds they received from and paid to investors and other persons in connection with

commodity futures transactions or purported commodity futures transactions, including

14
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the names, addresses and telephone numbers of any such persons from whom they

received such funds to the date of such accounting, and all disbursements for any purose

whatsoever of funds received from commodity investors, including salares,

commissions, fees, loans and other disbursements of money and property of any kind,

from 2006 to and including the date of such accounting. At a minimum, the accounting

should include a chronological schedule of all cash receipts and cash disbursements. In

addition, each transaction shaH be classified as business or personaL. All business

transactions shall disclose the business purpose of the transaction. The accounting shall

be provided in an electronic format such as Quicken, Excel, or other accounting or

electronic format spreadsheet. In addition, the Defendants and the PC LP shall supply

true and accurate copies of any balance sheets, income statements, statement of cash

flow, or statement of ownership equity previously prepared for the Defendants' and/or

PC LP's business(es);

F. Enter an order requiring Defendants immediately to identify and provide

an accounting in the same manner as described above, for all assets and property that they

currently maintain outside the United States, including, but not limited to, all funds on

deposit in any financial institution, futures commission merchant, bank, or savings and

loan accounts held by, under the control of, or in the name of Mark S. Trimble,

Phidippides Capital Management LLC or Phidippides Capital LP or their nominees,

whether held jointly or otherwise, and requiring them to repatriate all fuds held in such

accounts by paying them to the Clerk of the Court, or as otherwise ordered by the Court,

for further disposition in this case;

i 5
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G. Enter an order requiring Defendants, the PC LP, and any third party

transferee and/or successors thereof, to disgorge to any offcer appointed or directed by

the Court all benefits received including, but not limited to, salares, commissions, loans,

fees, revenues and trading profits derived, directly or indirectly, from acts or practices

which constitute violations of the Act as described herein, including pre-judgment

interest;

H. Enter an order directing the Defendants and PC LP and any successors

thereof, to rescind, pursuant to such procedures as the Court may order, all contracts and

agreements, whether implied or express, entered into between them and any of the pool

paricipants whose funds were received by them as a result of the acts and practices that

constituted violations of the Act and Regulations, as described herein;

i. Enter an order requiring Defendants to make restitution by making whole

each and every pool participant whose funds were received or utilized by them in

violation of the provisions of the Act as described herein, including pre-judgment

interest;

J. Enter an order requiring Defendants to pay civil penalties under the Act, to

be assessed by the Court, in amounts of not more than the higher of (i) triple the

monetary gain to Defendant for each violation of the Act and Regulations or (2) $130,000

for each violation occurring from October 23, 2004 through October 22, 2008, and

$140,000 for each violation of the Act and Regulations occurring on or after October 23,

2008;

K. Enter an order requiring Defendants to pay costs and fees as permitted by

28 U.S.C. §§ 1920 and 2412(a)(2)(1994); and
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f:nter an Order providing such other and further relief as this Court may

necessary and appropriate under the circumstanei.s.

Date: Fi.bruary 2009 Respi.ctlully submillcd.

the Plaintiff
'rrading Commission

l
It Wil

Deputy Regional Counsel

lllinois ARl)C No. 6191
swil iamsOi i(!~)'cfic go\'

(312) 596-0560

Regional and Associate Director
Illinois ARDe No. No. 312364 7
rho!! iiige r(l~t¡I¡c. go\'

12) 596-0520

CommoclityFutures Trading Conunission
Division of Enforcement
525 West Monroe Street, Suite i 100
Chicago. Ilinois 60661
(312) 596-0700 (offíce number)
(312) 596-07 i 4 (í~tcsimile)
w\iw.t:lic.gov
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JAN-16-2009 FRI 01 :08 PH US ATTORNEY WD OK FAX NO. 4055538887 P. 01

To: Joan Ackerman

MF Global

Fax: 312-902-6512

From: Greg Haines

US Attorney's Offce

Office: 405~553-8759

RE:Trimble

Joan,

Could you review the attached document and call me at the number above?

Thanks

EXHIBIT 4
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Hollnger, Rosemary

From: Ackerman, Joan (CHG Int) Uackerman(gmfglobal.coml

Sent: Wednesday, January 21,200912:02 PM

To: Hollnger, Rosemary

Subject: RE: Mark S. Trimble, Phidippides Capital Management, et al Email from Trimble

Sensitivity: Confidential

Per your request -

From: Mark Trimble (mailto:trimtrader(§gmail.com)
sent: Tuesday, January 20,20098:18 AM
To: Monieson, Steve (CHG Int)
Subject: Fwd: Notification

Steve,
I'm meeting the authorities at I 1 today. This is the letter I sent them. They have not notified anyone of
this matter, therefore I need to make sure you and dani disclose this to no one.

Sent from M Trimble

Begin forwarded message:

From: "Trimble" .,mtrimlJleJ(fcox.net::
Date: Januar 19, 2009 9:24:22 PM CST
To: "Mark Trimble" .,trimtrader(fgrail.com::
Subject: Notification

January 16, 2008

To Family, Friends, and Clients:

On or around November 15th I was contacted by the local FBI & IRS. They wanted to know
what the nature of my business was, and why our wire transfers to Chicago (MF Global our
clearing firm) were so large. They asked me if I knew certain names they mentioned and
how I knew a few of you etc... The following week I provided them all the legal documents
of the Hedge Fund and all our signatures and agreements. In mid to late December I was
notified by the United States District Court that by January 6, 2009 i had to provide the
FBI all my clients names, balances, and profit and loss statements for Q-4 of 2008. i

provided the authorities all these documents on January 4th or 5'Th. last week on Tuesday
the 14'th I provided them (FBI & IRS) our Hedge Fund statements from MF Global and then

on Friday the 16th at 4:15 I was notified by MF Global that my personal accounts (2) and
our Hedge Fund accounts (2) were frozen and we were not authorized to trade, or transfer
any capital into or out of these accounts. I have not been contacted by any authorities
about this matter, nor have i been notified of any pending investigation against me
personally or the Hedge Fund. In fact the two local agents that l have cooperated with told
me in mid December that they did not see a need to contact any of my clients, nor should I
even tell Dave Lynn or Brad Kelly about this.

After spending the weekend of January 16-19 contemplating why the FBI and IRS would

freeze our accounts at MF GlobaL. I have come to the conclusion that it must be due to the

an
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difference in our balances that I have provided all of you, including the FBI & IRS and what
MF Global shows our capital balances to be. The reason our balances are off is because I
could not look myself in the mirror and face all of you and notify you that in the last
quarter of 2008 we lost all the profits for the year and then some. The reason your
statements did not show the loss is because I have been in the process of seeking a loan to
offset the loss and make the balances match. My plan was to take a $250,000 per month
deduction against profits until the loan was paid off. Now taking out a loan within the
Hedge Fund is not illegal according to my attorneys, but I now feel that i have made some
very bad decisions and could be facing criminal charges for my actions. All of you may be
asking yourself, how can this happen and why? I have no answer that wil make sense
except to say that when one manages large amounts of capital it puts enormous pressure
on the human mind and body. Psychologically my pride, ego, shame, disappointment and
feeling oftotal failure kept me from being honest about our losses in the last quarter. I
want all of you to know that l have never used any of the funds capital for personal gain,
nor have I ever taken a dime for personal use, my personal trading account more than
supports my life. At this point in time I do not know what else i can say, except that I'm
sorry i have failed in managing your money and most importantly losing your trust.

I want all of you to know that the decisions made within the Hedge Fund are 100% my
responsibilty. Neither Dave nor Brad has ever had anything to do with the accounting of
the fund or the statements. I will be in contact with each of you once I have been notified
by the authorities as to what is actually happening with our accounts in Chicago.

MTrimble

Joan P. Ackerman
Assistant Vice President
Legal & Regulatory Affairs
phone: 312-663-7739
fax: 312-902-6512

email: jackerman(Qmfglobal.com

MF Global Inc.
440 South LaSalle Street
20th Floor

Chicago, IL 60605

From: Hollnger, Rosemary (maJlto:rhollngenQCFTC.GOV)

sent: Wednesday, January 21, 2009 11 :53 AM

To: Ackerman, Joan (CHG Int)
Subjec: RE: Mark S. Trimble, Phidippides capital Management, et al
Sensitivity: Confidential

Can you send me a copy of the letter that Trimble sent to Steve Monieson. Thanks again for all of your help.

From: Ackerman, Joan (CHG Int) (mallto:jackerman(§mfglobal.com)
sent: Tuesday, January 20,20096:19 PM
To: Hollinger, Rosemary

1/23/2009
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Hollnger, Rosemary

From: Bloom, Thomas J.

Sent: Wednesday, February 04, 2009 2:14 PM

To: Hollnger, Rosemary; Wiliamson, Scott R.

Subject: FW: Fees

fyi

From: Trimble (mailto:mtrimble(§coxinet.net)
sent: Wednesday, February 04,20091:43 PM
To: Bloom, Thomas J.
Cc: trimtrader(§gmail.com

Subject: Fees

Tom,

Sorry for the confusion the fees I collected on the wrong statements were $1,765,989.14.

EXHIBIT 6

2/6/2009
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Hollnger, Rosemary

From: Bloom, Thomas J.

Sent: Wednesday, February 04,20092:13 PM

To: Hollnger, Rosemary; Williamson. Scott R.

Subject: FW: Fees paid to me for 2008

Importance: High

According to Mark, $744,289.06 is what the fees should have been. i'll send you another e-
mail from Mark showing what fess he actually charged the fund.

From: Trimble (mailto:mtrmbleCQcoxinet.net)
sent: Wednesday, February 04,20091:26 PM
To: Bloom, Thomas J.
Cc: trimtraderCQgmail.com

Subject: Fe paid to me for 2008

Importnce: High

Tom,

I took all the statements provided to me from Archway and added up the "fees" category of each client this
came to: $744,389.06 in fees collected. I have also attached the W-2's of the employees that I paid so you can
see that also.

Thanks,

M Trimble

2/6/2009


